#### 04/11/2025

Bowen Greenwood
CLERK OF THE SUPREME COURT
STATE OF MONTANA

Case Number: DA 24-0386

# In the Supreme Court for the State of Montana

Supreme Court No. DA 24-0386

STATE OF MONTANA,

Plaintiff & Appellee,

-vs-

JAY STEVEN HUBBER,

Defendant & Appellant.

# **Appellant's Opening Brief**

On Appeal from the Montana Second Judicial District Court, Silver Bow County, Hon. Robert Whalen, Presiding

# **APPEARANCES:**

COLIN M. STEPHENS Stephens Brooke, P.C. 315 W. Pine Missoula, MT 59802 Phone: (406) 721-0300 colin@stephensbrooke.com

Attorney for Defendant & Appellant

#### Statement of the Case

Hubber appeals from his convictions for Deliberate Homicide

(Accountability) and Aggravated Burglary. The district court sentenced

Hubber to the Montana State Prison for a period of 60 years, 20

suspended for Deliberate Homicide and a concurrent term of 20 years

for Aggravated Burglary. (Appendix A).

Hubber timely filed a notice of appeal and now requests this Court vacate his convictions and remand for a new trial.

#### Statement of the Issues & Summary of the Arguments

The district court committed plain error when instructing the jury on the applicable mental state instructions for the offenses of conviction. In the alternative, trial counsel was ineffective in failing to both object to incorrect instructions and propose legally correct mental state instructions.

Second, the district court erred denying Hubber's motions to dismiss for insufficient evidence, especially in light of the instructional errors.

Finally, the district court erred by refusing to recognize a

bondsman's privilege.

## **Statement of Facts**

Leading to the death of Bill Harris, Hubber was a bail bondsman operating Alibi Bail Bonds, LLC. (Tr. 1531-1533). David Sandoval had absconded from pretrial release on numerous cases for a variety of charges including criminal possession of dangerous drugs and burglary. (Tr. 293). Sandoval's pretrial supervision was managed by Rachel Verlanic. (Id.)

Hubber posted \$15,000 and \$10,000 bonds for Sandoval in Butte City Court. (Tr. 1557-1560). In exchange, Sandoval signed a bail bond application and contract in which Sandoval agreed the "[Company] shall have control and jurisdiction over me during the term for which my bail bond(s) is executed and shall have the right to apprehend and surrender me to proper officials at any time for violation of my bail bond(s) obligations to the Court and [Company] as provided by law." (Tr. 1553) (emphases added). Sandoval also "consent[ed] to the application of such reasonable force as may be necessary to effect such return" to the jurisdiction. (Tr. 1552-1554) (emphasis added).

The contract listed three addresses for Sandoval. First was his mother's house at 1230 West Porphery [sic]. The second was 1330 Cortez, belonging to his grandmother. (Tr. 1089). The final address was 815 S. Main, a "trap house" owned by Harris. Sandoval did not fill out the address portions and was unsure if he gave this last address to Hubber. (Id). However, Ms. Verlanic testified that 815 S. Main was the address she associated with Sandoval's mailing address. (Tr. 1444).

Harold Mitchell lived with Harris at 815 S. Main Street for about two years. Mitchell testified Sandoval came over to the house two or three times a week to hang out, drink, and do drugs. (Tr. 1376-77). Mitchell testified Sandoval spent the night at the house two or three days before Harris' death. (Tr. 1377).

Seth Babcock testified Sandoval was at Harris' house at least once a day, and there were times when he was there for over 24 hours at a time. (Trial Tr. 1484).

On October 14, 2021, City Judge Jerome McCarthy issued two misdemeanor warrants for Sandoval and forfeited his bond in two cases. (Tr. 1561-1562). The district court issued its own warrant for

Sandoval on November 10, 2021, after Sandoval failed to appear at a final pretrial conference and did not maintain his GPS monitoring. (Tr. 295). The district court's warrant was directed to "any police officer or law enforcement personnel." It ordered Sandoval "shall be arrested in any jurisdiction within the State of Montana he may be found.

Thereafter, [Sandoval] shall be brought before this Court for further proceedings in this matter." (Tr. 342-343).

The district court issued a second warrant for Sandoval in a second felony case on December 14, 2021, when Sandoval again failed to appear. This second warrant was similarly worded to the first. (Id.)

On the morning of December 18, 2021, Hubber went in search of Sandoval. Hubber successfully located Sandoval at the first place he looked: 815 S. Main. Hubber told Sandoval that Sandoval was going to jail. Sandoval was aware of the warrants and agreed he knew the "cops were looking for" him. (Tr. 1105). Sandoval, who did not want to go to jail replied, "Come on, man." Unpersuaded by Sandoval's compelling self-advocacy, Hubber reiterated "you got to go." (Tr. 1114). Sandoval argued with Hubber but eventually agreed to go with him yet refused

to wear handcuffs. (Tr. 1115). Hubber agreed after believing

Sandoval's promise that he was "going to cooperate with" Hubber. (Id.)

Sandoval was able to escape Hubber. He fled into a residence at 735 South Main, up the stairs, dove out a window and jumped off the roof. (Tr. 1116-1117). Sandoval ran back into the house, locked the door, turned up the music and refused to come out again. (Tr. 1577). Hubber called law enforcement "requesting help to make the arrest, to see if there was anything we could do. If we could get him to maybe leave the house." (Tr. 1578).

Sgt. McMahon responded. He knew Sandoval and knew Sandoval had arrest warrants. (Tr. 341). Despite this, Sgt. McMahon did not believe he had a duty to try to arrest Sandoval because he did not see Sandoval. (Tr. 343). Sgt. McMahon did nothing except tell Hubber that Hubber "probably have more authority than" law enforcement to enter the house and go after Sandoval. (Tr. 333-334). Hubber did not enter the house that day, and Sandoval remained at large.

The next evening, while drinking beer<sup>1</sup> at the Acoma Bar, Hubber

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup>Although Hubber also had residual trace amounts of cocaine in his system, he did not use on December 19, 2021. (Tr. 1589).

learned Sandoval had returned to the house at 815 S. Main. (Tr. 317; 1584). Knowing there would be other people in the residence, Hubber enlisted the assistance of Jesse Jaeger. Jesse, in turn, offered the assistance of his brother, Nick. (Tr. 1586). Nick would later become Hubber's co-defendant. A fourth person and friend of Jesse's, Jacqueline Schwartz, rounded out the group. They rendezvoused at the Triple S Building Center between 6:30 and 6:35. (Tr. 1586-87).

Hubber called law enforcement and spoke with a dispatcher,

Jennifer Bailey. Again, Hubber sought the assistance of law
enforcement in apprehending Sandoval on the outstanding warrants.

(Tr. 1591). Sgt. Berger was shift commander and Ms. Bailey conveyed

Hubber's request for assistance to Sgt. Berger. Sgt. Berger was aware
of Sandoval's warrants and also was aware of his own duty to arrest

Sandoval "in certain circumstances." (Tr. 435-440). However, in
response to Ms. Bailey's inquiry, Sgt. Berger replied, "he [Hubber] is an
idiot. We're not dealing with his bullshit." Sgt. Berger continued, "if he
can get him, well, he can bring him to jail, and we'll serve the warrants
when they get to the jail." (Tr. 1421-1422).

Ms. Bailey diplomatically told Hubber she had a skeleton crew and everyone was on call. She did not relay that Sgt. Berger and other available officers were at the station. (Tr. 432-433). Ms. Bailey, who believes bail bondsmen are an extension of law enforcement, (Tr. 1412), confirmed Sandoval had two felony and two misdemeanor warrants and told Hubber if he got into a struggle she would clear an officer to assist. (Tr. 1414-1417). Hubber responded "we have it handled, we got it." (Tr. 1417). Nick did not hear what Ms. Bailey told Hubber. (Tr. 1615).

Hubber had been to the Harris house "probably over 30 times" in a work capacity, e.g. "collect cash," "fill out paperwork;" he even had an advertising poster hanging on the wall. (Tr. 1565). He had met Harris "[a] handful of times," but Hubber also believed Harold Mitchell owned the house at 815 S. Main because Mitchell had previously taken a "leadership" position in the house and had previously helped Hubber arrest individuals in the residence. (Tr. 1566). Mitchell had even called Hubber on prior occasions to let him know wanted individuals were in the house and Mitchell would let Hubber into the house to make the arrest. (Tr. 1566-67).

Although Hubber knew Sandoval was aware of his intent to arrest Sandoval, Hubber was unaware Sandoval had told Harris that Hubber was looking for him. Hubber was also unaware Sandoval and Harris had told everyone in the house to keep the doors locked. (Tr. 1184-1187).

Back in the Triple S parking lot, it was decided Jesse and Jackie would go into the back yard of the residence in case Sandoval ran out the back door. Hubber and Nick would enter through the front door. (Tr. 556).

Hubber and Nick approached the house. Through the window they could "see Sandoval and other individuals standing in the kitchen [then] turn[] around and walk[] to the back of the house." Hubber did not know the other individuals. (Tr. 1595). As they approached the house, "[t]here was an individual coming out. . . ." (Id.) Hubber did not know the individual, but it looked like Michael Berg. The individual "opened the door." (Tr. 1596). Nick told the individual they were bail bondsmen and were there to arrest Sandoval.

As the two entered the house, Nick was in the lead. He was

unarmed. Nick ran "into two more individuals in the front room" and "yelled" "loud enough for everybody to hear" that he and Hubber were bondsmen. (Tr. 1597). Hubber passed Nick on the left and went into the bedroom, where he found Sandoval sitting on the bed smoking methamphetamine and "weed." (Tr. 1120)

Hubber informed Sandoval he was under arrest. Sandoval stood up and punched Hubber in the face. (Id.) Hubber pulled out his taser and "tased David Sandoval right there on the corner of the bed." (Id.) Although Sandoval fell to the side of the bed, he was up again before Hubber could get handcuffs on him. "That's where the wrestling start[ed]." (Tr. 1598).

Hubber's recollection is he and Sandoval "rolled somehow off the bed onto the floor." Hubber ended on top of Sandoval trying to control his hands and "place handcuffs on his wrists." Sandoval was "fighting and resisting at the highest level," punching Hubber. (Id.)

Harris, who was also in the bedroom began to kick Hubber in the right side. At the same time Nick was accidently tasing Hubber.

Hubber was unaware who was tasing him because he was "getting

kicked in the face" and in the side. (Tr. 1599). Hubber heard yelling and chaos but was not "focusing on what was happening on the right or left, front or behind," he was only focused on Sandoval. (Tr. 1600).

Sandoval and Hubber continued to struggle until one or two gunshots rang out. Hubber did not know "who had the firearm and who was shooting at who." When the shooting stopped and he heard all the footsteps leave the room, Hubber looked up, got off Sandoval and saw an "individual down." (Tr. 1601). Hubber told Sandoval to stay in the room and not to leave. Sandoval fled out the back door but not before first bending down and grabbing something off the floor from the area around Harris's body. (Id.)

Hubber, a former Marine and former driver of an ambulance service had training on assisting individuals with gunshot wounds, bent down and tried to assist Harris. (Tr. 1602). Hubber then turned, ran approximately 13 steps into the front room and called 911. (Tr. 1603). Hubber sustained blunt force trauma injuries to his face from being kicked by Harris' steel-toed boots. (Tr. 1295-96). For the majority of the fight, he thought his life was in danger. (Tr. 830).

Hubber would later learn Nick had shot Harris with Hubber's gun while trying to protect Hubber.

Nick had never worked as a bail bondsman. He knew the residence was a trap house, well known for its open-door policy and frequently inhabited by drug users. (Tr. 1729). Nick believes Mark Hockaday let them into the residence. This was keeping with Nick's understanding that the residence was not a place he would have to "barge into." (Tr. 1729-30). While Nick did not recall yelling they were bail bondsmen, he does recall saying "we're here just to arrest [Sandoval]. We're bondsmen." (Tr. 1730). Nick had no protective gear and no weapons at the time he entered. (Tr. 1731-32).

Nick entered the bedroom after Hubber and saw Hubber use the taser on Sandoval. Nick saw Hubber tackle Sandoval and watched them fall to the floor. (Tr. 1732). At this point, Mark Hockaday and Sundance Heavy Runner came in from the living room. Both were armed with boards, sticks or clubs. (Tr. 1734). As Hubber struggled to detain Sandoval, Nick "just tried to keep everybody off of him." (Tr. 1733). "Things escalated really quick." (Tr. 1736).

Nick recalled grabbing the taser off the floor and trying to use it to help Hubber subdue Sandoval. He accidently stunned Hubber and not Sandoval so he abandoned that effort. Someone Nick did not know was screaming and was "probably more mad than anybody." "He was screaming, telling us to get out of his house." (Tr. 1736). At that point, Nick did not know Harris and did not know the house belonged to Harris. (Tr. 1737).

Harris was standing on one side of the bed opposite to Nick and next to the back door. (Id.) Nick's concern over Hubber's safety increased and Harris continued to scream "get the fuck out of my house," and that he, Harris, was going to kick Hubber in the face. (Tr. 1739). Nick, "surrounded by people with weapons," was "really scared" but was "telling them to get back, telling them to get the fuck back." (Tr. 1740). When Nick returned his focus to Harris, he thought he saw a "pair of scissors in one hand and a beer bottle in [Harris'] other hand." (Id.) Nick told Harris to "calm down, get back."

According to Nick, he looked down and saw Hubber with a gun in his hand and Sandoval holding Hubber's wrist. "[T]he only thought

going through" Nick's head was "I don't want these guys to get that gun." (Id.) Nick had not seen the gun come out of the holster and he did not take it out of Hubber's holster himself. (Tr. 1741). According to Nick, he reached down and grabbed the gun from Hubber's hand. To Nick, it looked like Hubber had just pulled it out of the holster or was trying to put it back in the holster. (Tr. 1743).

Feeling Harris was the biggest threat and with Hubber still wrestling with Sandoval on the floor, Nick pointed the gun at Harris and "told him to stay the fuck back" numerous times. (Tr. 1745).

Harris jumped on the bed with the knife in his hand and, reacting out of fear for his life, Nick shot Harris. (Tr. 1746). The gun went off twice, Harris fell backwards and was dead. (Tr. 1747).

Hubber denied handing the gun to Nick and denied telling Nick to shoot Harris. Hubber did not expect Nick to shoot Harris. (Tr. 1604). Hubber's gun was in a holster with a defective retention latch that would normally keep the pistol in the holster. (Tr. 1593).

Meanwhile, Sandoval – who had picked up the knife next to

Harris and fled the house – threw the knife in a neighboring yard and

hid. He was later arrested. During his interview, he did not report Hubber getting kicked in the head and he omitted mention of the knife because he did not want it to seem like it was Harris' fault for getting shot. (Tr. 1063-1074). After being evaluated and released from the hospital, Sandoval was finally arrested on his outstanding warrants.

#### Standards of Review

A district court's decisions regarding jury instructions are reviewed for an abuse of discretion. State v. Lacey, 2012 MT 52, ¶ 15, 364 Mont. 291, 272 P.3d 1288. The standard of review of jury instructions in criminal cases is whether the instructions, as a whole, fully and fairly instruct the jury on the law applicable to the case. State v. King, 2016 MT 323, ¶ 7, 385 Mont. 483, 485, 385 P.3d 561, 563. The trial judge has a duty to instruct the jury on every issue or theory finding support in the evidence, and this duty is discharged by giving instructions which accurately and correctly state the law applicable in a case. State v. Erickson, 2014 MT 304, ¶ 35, 377 Mont. 84, 338 P.3d 598. It is reversible error for a trial court to give conflicting instructions on a material issue. Bohrer v. Clark, 180 Mont. 233, 246,

590 P.2d 117, 124 (1978).

Claims of ineffective assistance of counsel present mixed questions of fact and law, which are reviewed de novo. State v. Hinshaw, 2018 MT 49,  $\P$  8, 390 Mont. 372, 414 P.3d 271.

"We review a district court's denial of a motion to dismiss a criminal charge for insufficient evidence de novo. A motion to dismiss for insufficient evidence is appropriate only if, viewing the evidence in the light most favorable to the prosecution, there is not sufficient evidence upon which a rational trier of fact could find the essential elements of the crime beyond a reasonable doubt." State v. Hren, 2021 MT 264, ¶ 16, 406 Mont. 15, 496 P.3d 949 (internal citations and quotations omitted).

"We review de novo a district court's interpretation of a statute, and we review its application of a statute to a particular set of circumstances for correctness." State v. Felde, 2021 MT 1, ¶ 8, 402 Mont. 391, 478 P.3d 825.

# <u>Arguments</u>

I. (A) The District Court committed plain error when instructing the jury on the applicable definitions of

# "knowingly" and "purposely."

Despite the fact the State charged Hubber with Deliberate

Homicide under two different theories of culpability and one count of

Aggravated Burglary, the court only provided the jury with two

applicable mental state instructions. Hubber's counsel neither objected

to the erroneous instructions nor did counsel propose his own correct

instructions.

The court's error qualifies for plain error review. "A party requesting reversal because of plain error bears the burden of firmly convincing this Court that the claimed error implicates a fundamental right and that such review is necessary to prevent a manifest miscarriage of justice or that failure to review the claim may leave unsettled the question of fundamental fairness of the proceedings or may compromise the integrity of the judicial proceeding. State v. George, 2020 MT 56, ¶ 5, 399 Mont. 173, 459 P.3d 854. "Thus, 'we first ask if the alleged error implicates a fundamental right; we next ask if failure to review the alleged error would result in one of those consequences." Id. (citing and quoting State v. Hatfield, 2018 MT 299,

¶ 15, 392 Mont. 509, 426 P.3d 569).

Despite any failure by counsel to either object or seek a correct instruction, a court has an independent legal duty to accurately and correctly instruct the jury on the law applicable in a case. State v. Sheehan, 2017 MT 185, ¶ 33, 388 Mont. 220, 399 P.3d 314 (citing and quoting State v. Kaarma, 2017 MT 24, ¶ 26, 386 Mont. 243, 390 P.3d 609); see also, Billings Leasing Co. v. Payne, 176 Mont. 217, 225, 577 P.2d 386, 391 (1978) ("trial court duty to full and correctly instruct jury on applicable law to guide, direct and assist in an intelligent understanding of the legal and factual issues involved in their search for truth"); State v. Kougl, 2004 MT 243, ¶ 26, 323 Mont. 6, 97 P.3d 1095 ("[i]t is the duty of the court to instruct the jury on the law. . . [which] cannot be delegated to counsel. . . .").

All of the plain error elements are present. First, the instructional error regarding the two mental states implicates a fundamental right. "The *Fourteenth Amendment* to the United States Constitution, the Montana Constitution *Article II*, *Section 17*, and § 26-1-403(2), MCA, independently require the state to prove every factual

element of a charged offense beyond a reasonable doubt. *In re Winship*, 397 U.S. 358, 361-64 (1970); *State v. Mills*, 2018 MT 254, ¶ 24, 393 Mont. 121, 428 P.3d 834 (cleaned up). Both the Model Penal Code section 2.02(1) and § 45-2-103(1), MCA, "generally require[] the state to prove that the defendant acted with the requisite criminal mental state for *each element* of a charged offense." *Mills*, ¶ 24 (emphasis added).

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