IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF MONTANA

No. DA 24-0386

STATE OF MONTANA,

Plaintiff and Appellee,

v.

JAY STEVEN HUBBER,

Defendant and Appellant.

BRIEF OF APPELLEE

On Appeal from the Montana Second Judicial District Court,
Silver Bow County, The Honorable Robert Whelan, Presiding

APPEARANCES:

AUSTIN KNUDSEN
Montana Attorney General
MARDELL PLOYHAR
Assistant Attorney General
P.O. Box 201401
Helena, MT 59620-1401
Phone: 406-444-2026
mployhar@mt.gov

COLIN M. STEPHENS
Stephens Brooke, P.C.
315 W. Pine
Missoula, MT 59802

ATTORNEY FOR DEFENDANT
AND APPELLANT

MATT ENROOTH
Butte-Silver Bow County Attorney
ANN SHEA
KELLI FIVEY
Deputy County Attorneys
155 West Granite Street

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

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

This Court should not review Hubber's challenge to the mental state instructions under the plain error doctrine. The court correctly instructed the jury on the result-based definition of knowingly. The result-based definition of purposely should have been given, rather than the conduct-based definition. But failing to review the claim would not result in a manifest miscarriage of justice. The jury was correctly instructed on the elements of the offenses. When the conduct-based definition was read in conjunction with the elements, which required a result, the instructions fully and fairly instructed jurors that to convict Hubber, jurors had to find Hubber had the conscious object to engage in conduct causing the result that was required by the elements. This Court has previously declined to invoke plain error review where the conduct-based definition of purposely was given for a result-based offense. This Court should again decline to apply plain error review in this case.

The court correctly denied Hubber's motion to dismiss the deliberate homicide by accountability count because there was evidence from which a rational tier of fact could find the elements of the offense beyond a reasonable doubt. Significantly, Hubber brought the pistol, taser, and Nick to the home, and he initiated the physical conflict. Sandoval initially stated that Hubber gave Nick the gun, and Nick initially stated that Hubber threatened to shoot Harris between the

eyes before Nick got the pistol from Hubber. This evidence is sufficient to support Hubber's conviction for deliberate homicide by accountability.

Finally, the court did not abuse its discretion when it refused to instruct the jury, and prohibited Hubber from arguing, that he was legally entitled to enter Harris's home to arrest Sandoval. Montana's statutes give a bondsman the authority to arrest their principal if a forfeiture is pending, but neither the statutes nor Montana common law give a bondsman the authority to violate other laws by entering the home of a third party to conduct an arrest. And Hubber's contract with Sandoval could not reduce Harris's right to privacy in his home. Because Hubber did not lawfully enter Harris's home, and Harris ordered Hubber to leave his home, Hubber could not legally arrest Sandoval in Harris's home. Under these facts, the court did not abuse its discretion when it refused to instruct on a bondsman privilege.

ARGUMENT

I. Hubber has not met his burden to demonstrate the mental state instructions should be reviewed under the plain error doctrine, and the instructions did not affect his substantial rights.

A. Facts related to the jury instructions

Hubber's proposed jury instructions did not include any mental state definitions. (Doc. 143.) The State's proposed instructions contained a result-based

definition of knowingly and a conduct-based definition of purposely. (Doc. 144, Plaintiff's Proposed Instrs. No. 8-9.) When the court settled instructions, Hubber did not object to the State's mental state instructions. (Trial Tr. at 1912-13.) Hubber's counsel specifically stated he did not object to the State's instruction defining purposely because it was a pattern instruction. (*Id.* at 1912.) Nick's counsel also stated that he had "[n]o objection to State's 9." (*Id.*)

As the parties agreed, the court instructed the jury that "[a] person acts knowingly when the person is aware there exists the high probability that the person's conduct will cause a specific result[,]" and "[a] person acts purposely when it is the person's conscious object to engage in conduct of that nature." (Doc. 212, Instrs. No. 17-18.)

B. Standard for review under the plain error doctrine

This Court has consistently held that it will not consider issues raised for the first time on appeal. *See, e.g., State v. Reim*, 2014 MT 108, ¶ 38, 374 Mont. 487, 323 P.3d 880; *State v. Taylor*, 2010 MT 94, ¶ 12, 356 Mont. 167, 231 P.3d 79. "A party may not assign as error any portion of the [jury] instructions . . . unless an objection was made specifically stating the matter objected to, and the grounds for the objection, at the settlement of instructions." *State v. Mathis*, 2022 MT 156, ¶ 42, 409 Mont. 348, 515 P.3d 758. But this Court may review an unpreserved claim alleging a violation of a fundamental constitutional right under the common

law plain error doctrine when the defendant invokes the Court’s inherent authority and establishes that failing to review the claimed error may result in a manifest miscarriage of justice, may leave unsettled the question of the fundamental fairness of the trial or proceedings, or may compromise the integrity of the judicial process. *Taylor*, ¶¶ 12-13. An error is plain only if it leaves one “firmly convinced” that some aspect of the trial, if not addressed, would result in one of the consequences listed above. *Taylor*, ¶ 17. This Court invokes plain error review “sparingly, on a case-by-case basis, according to narrow circumstances, and by considering the totality of the circumstances.” *State v. Williams*, 2015 MT 247, ¶ 16, 380 Mont. 445, 358 P.3d 127; *see also State v. Ament*, 2025 MT 97, ¶ 34, 421 Mont. 502, 568 P.3d 535 (“plain error review is invoked sparingly and only to prevent manifest injustice”).

C. Hubber’s conviction for deliberate homicide by accountability should not be reversed under the plain error doctrine.

1. The result-based instructions applied.

Montana’s statutes provide four definitions of knowingly, depending on whether the term applies to conduct, a circumstance, the result of conduct, or a

///

fact. Mont. Code Ann. § 45-2-101(35). Montana Code Annotated § 45-2-101(35) states that

a person acts knowingly with respect to **conduct** or to a **circumstance** described by a statute defining an offense when the person is aware of the person's own conduct or that the circumstance exists. A person acts knowingly with respect to the **result** of conduct described by a statute defining an offense when the person is aware that it is highly probable that the result will be caused by the person's conduct. When knowledge of the **existence of a particular fact** is an element of an offense, knowledge is established if a person is aware of a high probability of its existence.

(Emphasis added.)

Similarly, the statutes set out a conduct-based and a result-based definition of purposely. Montana Code Annotated § 45-2-101(65) provides that “a person acts purposely with respect to a result or to conduct described by a statute defining an offense if it is the person's conscious object to engage in that conduct or to cause that result.”

A court cannot provide the jury with all possible definitions of knowingly and purposely. Instead, this Court has required courts to provide only those definitions that are applicable. *State v. Azure*, 2005 MT 328, ¶ 20, 329 Mont. 536, 125 P.3d 1116. Further, this Court has explained that courts must determine whether the elements of an offense are conduct-based or result-based and instruct the jury accordingly. *Secrease*, ¶ 11; *see also Deveraux*, ¶ 31; *State v. Ilk*, 2018 MT 186, ¶ 18, 392 Mont. 201, 422 P.3d 1219; *Azure*, ¶ 20 (implying only one

definition of knowingly can ever be given); *State v. Lambert*, 280 Mont. 231, 240-41, 929 P.2d 846, 852 (1996) (Leaphart, J., concurring).

A person commits the offense of deliberate homicide if the person purposely or knowingly causes the death of another human being. Mont. Code Ann. § 45-5-102(1), (1)(a). Deliberate homicide is a result-based offense requiring result-based definitions of knowingly and purposely. *Ilk*, ¶ 35; *State v. Rosling*, 2008 MT 62, ¶ 37, 342 Mont. 1, 180 P.3d 1102.

To convict a defendant of deliberate homicide by accountability, the State must prove that the defendant “(1) had the purpose to promote or facilitate commission of deliberate homicide, and (2) aided or abetted [a codefendant] in the planning or commission of deliberate homicide.” *State v. Lantis*, 1998 MT 172, ¶ 33, 289 Mont. 480, 962 P.2d 1169; *accord* Mont. Code Ann. §§ 45-2-301, -302, 45-5-102. When deliberate homicide is charged by accountability, it continues to be a result-based offense. *See* Mont. Code Ann. § 45-2-302(3); *Lantis*, ¶¶ 35-36 (discussing the result needed to prove deliberate homicide by accountability); *State v. Kline*, 2016 MT 177, ¶ 13, 384 Mont. 157, 376 P.3d 132 (accountability is a theory by which a person is held accountable for the acts of another, not a separate offense); *Ilk*, ¶ 35 (attempted deliberate homicide is result-based).

Because deliberate homicide by accountability is a result-based offense, the court correctly provided the result-based definition of knowingly. The State

acknowledges, however, that the court should have provided the result-based definition of purposely, rather than the conduct-based definition. Thus, the jury should have been instructed that a person acts purposely when it is the person's conscious object to *cause such a result*, rather than when it is the person's conscious object to *engage in conduct of that nature*. See Mont. Code Ann. § 45-2-101(65); MCJI 2-106.

2. This Court should not apply plain error review.

Despite the use of the conduct-based definition of purposely, this Court should decline to review Hubber's claim under the plain error doctrine because he has not demonstrated failing to review the claim would result in a manifest miscarriage of justice. The jury was correctly instructed that "[a] person commits the offense of deliberate homicide if the person purposely or knowingly causes the death of another human being." (Appellant's App. B at 35 (Instr. No. 31).) The jury was also correctly instructed that Hubber was "legally accountable for the conduct of another when either before or during the commission of an offense, and with the purpose to promote or facilitate such commission, Mr. HUBBER solicits, aids, abets, agrees or attempts to aid, such other person in the planning or commission of the offense." (Appellant's App. B at 39 (Instr. No. 35).) In addition, the jury was correctly instructed that "[a] person acts knowingly when the

person is aware there exists the high probability that the person's conduct will cause a specific result." (Appellant's App. B at 21 (Instr. No. 17).)

Unlike the knowingly instruction, which was result-based, the jury was instructed that "[a] person acts purposely when it is the person's conscious object to *engage in conduct of that nature.*" (Appellant's App. B at 22 (Instr. No. 18) (emphasis added).) The jury should have instead been instructed that a person acts purposely when it is the person's conscious object to cause such a result. *See* MCJI 2-106; Mont. Code Ann. § 45-2-101(65).

But the use of the incorrect instruction does not establish a manifest miscarriage of justice because, when the instructions are read as a whole, the conduct the defendant had to engage in necessarily included the result. If purposely, rather than knowingly, was relied on to establish that Nick committed the deliberate homicide Hubber was accountable to, the conduct that had to be proven was "cause[d] the death of another human being." (Appellant's App. B at 35, 40 (Instrs. No. 31, 36).) Because the conduct included the result, there was no distinction between the two. When the conduct definition and the elements of deliberate homicide are read together, the jury was instructed that to convict, it had to find that Nick had the conscious object to engage in conduct of that nature, and the conduct Nick had to engage in was causing Harris's death. Thus, if the jury

relied on purposely rather than knowingly, the jury still found the necessary elements.

The same is true for accountability. To commit deliberate homicide by accountability, Hubber had to solicit, aid, abet, agree, or attempt to do one of those with Nick in the planning or commission of deliberate homicide with the purpose to promote or facilitate the commission of deliberate homicide. (Appellant's App. B at 39 (Instr. No. 35).) The conduct the jury had to find Hubber had the conscious object to engage in was promoting or facilitating the commission of a deliberate homicide, which necessarily included the result of causing a death. That is the same finding that would have needed to be made under the result-based definition.

Distinguishing deliberate homicide from deliberate homicide by accountability, this Court has explained that the result applicable to deliberate homicide by accountability is the act designed to promote or facilitate causing the death of another human being. *Lantis*, ¶ 36. Because the conduct necessary to commit the offense encompasses the result of causing death, the conduct and the result needed to prove deliberate homicide by accountability are the same. Both the conduct and the result are promoting and facilitating the commission of deliberate homicide.

“A failure to correctly instruct the jury on the appropriate mental state does not, by itself, warrant plain error review.” *State v. Kirn*, 2023 MT 98, ¶ 49, 412 Mont. 309, 530 P.3d 1. Because the jury was properly instructed on the elements of deliberate homicide by accountability and the conduct required by those instructions was to cause the result of facilitating deliberate homicide, Hubber has not demonstrated that failing to review his claim under the plain error doctrine will result in a manifest miscarriage of justice.

Here, the jury had evidence from which it could conclude that Hubber purposely promoted or facilitated the commission of deliberate homicide when he brought a taser and pistol into the home, immediately tased and tackled a guest in the home, brought Nick along to protect him, threatened to shoot Harris between the eyes, removed his pistol from his holster, and provided Nick with the pistol. Hubber has not met his burden to demonstrate he is entitled to plain error review of this claim.

Furthermore, an erroneous jury instruction does not require reversal unless the appellant demonstrates his substantial rights were affected. Because the instructions correctly instructed the jury on the elements of the offense and the elements required conduct that included a result, the jury could not have overlooked the need to find that Hubber facilitated Harris’s death. His substantial

rights were thus not affected by the incorrect definition of purposely, and his conviction for deliberate homicide by accountability should be affirmed.

D. Hubber’s aggravated burglary conviction should not be reversed under the plain error doctrine.

Hubber has not demonstrated that the court’s failure to instruct the jury on different mental states for each element of aggravated burglary or the court’s definition of purposely resulted in a manifest miscarriage of justice. This Court has never required courts to provide different mental state instructions for different elements of an offense. Rather, this Court has directed courts to determine whether an offense is conduct-based or result-based, and instruct accordingly. *Azure*, ¶ 20 (citing *Lambert*, 280 Mont. at 240-41, 929 P.2d at 852 (Leaphart, J., concurring)); *see also State v. Rowe*, 2024 MT 37, 415 Mont. 280, 543 P.3d 614; *Deveraux*, ¶ 31; *State v. Gerstner*, 2009 MT 303, 353 Mont. 86, 219 P.3d 866 (2009) (not requiring a separate mental state instruction for the sexual contact element of sexual assault). Although this Court allowed a court to provide a fact-based and conduct-based definition in *State v. Hovey*, 2011 MT 3, ¶¶ 20-22, 359 Mont. 100, 248 P.3d 303, this Court has never held it is error not to instruct on individual elements. Hubber has not demonstrated failing to review whether multiple mental state definitions should have been given would result in a manifest miscarriage of justice.

The State acknowledges that the jury should have been instructed on the result-based, rather than the conduct-based, definition of purposely. *See Kirn*, ¶ 49. But this Court held in *Kirn* that instructing on the conduct-based definition of purposely for aggravated burglary was not plain error. *Id.* This Court stated that “[a] failure to correctly instruct the jury on the appropriate mental state does not, by itself, warrant plain error review.” *Id.* This Court analyzed the evidence presented in *Kirn* and determined *Kirn* was not prejudiced by the incorrect mental state instruction. *Id.* This Court should reach the same conclusion here. *Id.*

To convict Hubber of aggravated burglary, the State had to prove:

1. That Mr. HUBBER knowingly entered or remained unlawfully in an occupied structure;

AND

2. That Mr. HUBBER knowingly or purposely committed the offense of assault in the occupied structure;

AND

3. That in the course of committing the offense, Mr. HUBBER purposely or knowingly attempted to inflict bodily injury on anyone.

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